### OXIDANTS, ANTIOXIDANTS AND ALCOHOL: IMPLICATIONS FOR SKELETAL AND CARDIAC MUSCLE

# Victor R Preedy<sup>1</sup>, Vinood B Patel<sup>1</sup>, Matthew E Reilly<sup>1</sup>, Peter J Richardson<sup>2</sup>, Gavin Falkous<sup>3</sup> and David Mantle<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Departments of Clinical Biochemistry and <sup>2</sup> Cardiology, Guy's, King's and St Thomas's Medical School, King's College London, Bessemer Road, London SE5 9PJ, UK, <sup>3</sup> Neurochemistry Department, Regional Neurosciences Centre, Newcastle General Hospital, Newcastle-Upon-Tyne, NE4 6BE, United Kingdom

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

2. Introduction

3. Alcoholic skeletal muscle

- 3.1. The features of alcoholic muscle disease
- 3.2. Antioxidant properties of selenium
- 3.3. Antioxidant properties of alpha-tocopherol
- 3.4. Effects of selenium and alpha-tocopherol deficiencies on skeletal muscle
- 3.5. Measuring the effects of free-radical damage
- *3.6. The hypothesis to explain the myopathy*
- 3.7. Animal studies of alcohol misuse and effects on protein synthesis
- 3.8. Oxidant damage and antioxidant status in skeletal muscles
  - 3.8.1. Assessment of ROS per se
  - 3.8.2. Assessment of ROS damage
  - 3.8.3. Assessment of protective mechanisms
- 3.9. Protective effects of alpha-tocopherol and selenium

3.10. Imidazole dipeptides

4. Alcoholic cardiomyopathy

- 4.1. Clinical features of alcoholic cardiomyopathy
- 4.2. The involvement of free-radical mediated damage
- 4.3. Alcohol and cardiac ischemic damage
- 4.4. Release of troponin-T and effects of propranolol
- 5. Conclusions
- 6. Acknowledgements
- 7. References

#### 1. ABSTRACT

The chronic form of alcoholic skeletal myopathy is characterized by selective atrophy of Type II fibers and affects up to two thirds of all alcohol misusers. Plasma selenium and alpha-tocopherol are reduced in myopathic alcoholics compared to alcoholic patients without myopathy. Plasma carnosinase is also reduced in myopathic alcoholics, implicating a mechanism related to reduced intramuscular carnosine, an imidazole dipeptide with putative antioxidant properties. Together with the observation that alcoholic patients have increased indices of lipid peroxidation, there is evidence suggestive of free radical (i.e., unpaired electrons or reactive oxygen species) mediated damage in the pathogenesis of alcohol-induced muscle disease.

Protein synthesis is a multi-step process that encompasses amino acid transport, signal transduction, translation and transcription. Any defect in one or more of the innumerable components of each process will have an impact on protein synthesis, as determined by radiolabelling of constituent proteins. Both acute and chronic alcohol exposure are associated with a reduction in skeletal muscle protein synthesis. Paradoxically, alcohol-feeding studies in rats have shown that the imidazole dipeptide concentrations are increased in myopathic muscles though alpha-tocopherol contents are not significantly altered. In acutely dosed rats, where protein synthesis is reduced, protein carbonyl concentrations (an index of oxidative damage to muscle) also decline slightly or are unaltered, contrary to the expected increase.

Alcoholic cardiomyopathy can ensue from heavy consumption of alcohol over a long period of time. The clinical features include poor myocardial contractility with reduced left ventricular ejection volume, raised tissue enzymes, dilation of the left ventricle, raised autoantibodies and defects in mitochondrial function. Whilst oxidant damage occurs in experimental models, however this issues remains to be confirmed in the clinical setting. In the rat, circulating troponin-T release increases in the presence of ethanol, a mechanism ascribed to free radical mediated damage, as it is prevented with the xanthine oxidase inhibitor and beta-blocker, propranolol. However, whist propranolol prevents the release of troponin-T, it does not prevent the fall in whole cardiac protein synthesis, suggestive of localized ischemic damage due to ethanol.

#### 2. INTRODUCTION

Approximately half of chronic alcohol misusers have difficulties in gait, reduced muscle strength, and loss of total lean tissue, giving rise to the entity of alcoholinduced muscle disorders (AIMD). Although AIMD are more common than hereditary conditions of muscle disease (Duchenne muscular dystrophy, for example), the mechanisms for AIMD are poorly understood. Between one and two thirds of chronic alcoholics have skeletal muscle myopathies, making AIMD possibly the most prevalent skeletal muscle disorder (reviewed in (1-4)). Furthermore, excessive alcohol consumption also perturbs the function and metabolism of cardiac muscle: up to one third of chronic alcohol misusers will have some form of cardiovascular impairment (5-7). These figures are quite staggering, considering that very little text is devoted to these problems in standard books on skeletal muscle or cardiology. In this review, we draw critical attention to the features of AIMD and alcoholic cardiomyopathy and raise the possibility that these may be mediated by reactive (ROS). With regard to alcoholic oxvgen species cardiomyopathy, we describe in vivo studies using a specific plasma marker of cardiac damage, i.e., plasma troponin-T.

### 3. ALCOHOLIC SKELETAL MUSCLE

In the ensuing paragraphs the nature of the pathogenic lesions in skeletal muscle in response to ethanol are described. Evidence suggests that, currently the only factors to distinguish myopathic alcoholics from nonmyopathic alcoholics include differences in plasma alphatocopherol, selenium and carnosinase activities. Experiments are subsequently described to test the hypothesis that these variables contribute to the myopathy and the ethanol-induced reductions in protein synthesis that are initial events in the pathogenesis of AIMD.

#### **3.1.** The features of alcoholic muscle disease

Quantitative histomorphometry in proximal muscle biopsies from alcoholic subjects have shown that in approx. one half to two thirds of subjects, the diameter of fasttwitch or Type II skeletal muscle fibers (i.e., those with anaerobic glycolytic metabolism) are reduced. The Type IIb fiber subsets (which have few or no mitochondria) are particularly affected. The intermediate Type IIa fiber subsets, and especially the slow-twitch or Type I fibers (aerobic oxidative), are relatively resilient. Inflammation and fibrosis are not commonly found in biopsies and occasionally enhancement in lipid deposition may occur. There is no overt membrane damage, and plasma creatine kinase activities are generally unaltered, though an increase is seen when an acute muscle lesion is superimposed. In general, all muscle groups appear to be affected as indicated by reductions in either mid-arm circumference or urinary creatinine excretion/height ratio. The overall consequences of these changes are difficulties in gait, reduced muscle strength and myalgia, with the concomitant potential for impaired post-operative recovery and compromised immune response due to lost lean body reserves. Rhabdomyolysis is infrequent in alcoholics and occurs in less than 5% of chronic ethanol misusers (1-4).

The myopathy is not directly related to neurological involvement, endocrine imbalance (including defects in cortisol status), nor overt liver disease (reviewed in (1-4)). Assessment of folate, pyridoxine, riboflavin, thiamine, vitamin B12, vitamin D and general food intakes indicates that, tentatively, the myopathy is not nutritional in origin (1-4). However, compared to either non-misusing controls or non-myopathic alcoholics, serum selenium and alphatocopherol concentrations are lower in myopathic alcoholics (8). Neither beta-carotene (pro-vitamin A), retinol, copper nor zinc are significantly altered in serum of alcoholics with myopathy (8). Myopathic alcoholics also have reduced carnosinase activities compared to nonmyopathic alcoholics or non-misusing controls. Although there may be a neurological basis for the alterations in plasma carnosinase activities (9), the enzyme catalyses the hydrolysis of the substrate carnosine and imidazole dipeptides such as anserine. These imidazole-containing compounds are important anti-oxidants (see below for details). Muscle carnosine contents can be influenced by dietary carnosine concentrations as well as amino acid deficiencies, particularly histidine.

It is not unreasonable to forward a hypothesis that encompasses the concept of free radical mediated damage for the following reasons: (i) selenium and alphatocopherol are dietary antioxidants, (ii) carnosine is an important antioxidant in skeletal muscle and (iii) deficiencies of either selenium or alpha-tocopherol can induce myopathic lesions. In the following paragraphs, we deal with each of these points. Other detailed features of alcoholic skeletal muscle disease have been described elsewhere (1-4).

#### 3.2. Antioxidant properties of selenium

Selenium is a cofactor in a number of enzyme systems, especially glutathione peroxidase. This selenoenzyme catalyses the reduction of  $H_2O_2$  and organic hydroperoxides. Glutathione peroxidase is considered the major detoxification enzyme for  $H_2O_2$ . In the reaction, reduced glutathione (GSH) is oxidized to the disulphide (GSSG). The enzyme is located in both the cytosol and mitochondria. There is a correlation between reduced plasma selenium and depressed glutathione peroxidase activities (10).

#### 3.3. Antioxidant properties of alpha-tocopherol

There are four different isomers of tocopherol, alpha, beta, gamma and delta: the alpha form is the most potent tocopherol. One of the most characterized features of alpha-tocopherol is its ability to prevent the initiation and propagation of lipid peroxidation by scavenging free radicals. Lipid peroxidation is important in muscle as it modifies the membranes of distinct subcellular organelles, such as the mitochondrion, lysosome or the sarcolemma, with implications for membrane permeability or fragility (11). Plasma levels of alpha-tocopherol are used indirectly to reflect tissue levels, including muscle. With regard to the latter, the most abundant source of alpha-tocopherol is skeletal muscle, by virtue of the fact that it is approx. 40% of body weight. The total content per organ (units per organ) must not be confused with the concentration (units per g wet weight): the concentration of alpha-tocopherol in hepatic tissue is higher than skeletal muscle, but the liver represents a lower proportion of body mass than muscle.

# **3.4.** Effects of selenium and alpha-tocopherol deficiencies on skeletal muscle

Dietary deficiencies of alpha-tocopherol or selenium cause skeletal muscle myopathy, though in many studies the deficiency of both selenium and alphatocopherol has been combined experimentally. Deficiencies of either alpha-tocopherol or selenium also occur naturally. For example, White muscle disease (WMD) is seen in farm animals and arises as a consequence of a combination of inadequate soil selenium and enhanced oxidation of alpha-tocopherol in foodstuffs or diets poor in alpha-tocopherol (12-20). In animals with WMD, alpha-tocopherol and selenium contents of affected muscle are reduced with consequential reductions in glutathione peroxidase in plasma (15). Deliberate selenium and alpha-tocopherol deficiencies have been established, for example for 1 year in calves (21). This treatment produces elevations in plasma creatine kinase activity and defined myopathic lesions (21).

Selenium deficiency for 2 months reduces skeletal muscle (gastrocnemius) glutathione peroxidase levels in rats by over 80% (10). In general, however, the effects of selenium deficiency alone are less convincing. Induction of alpha-tocopherol deficiency in rats 20 days after birth induces structural lesions at the electron microscopic levels in muscle after 6, 12, 18 and 24 months (22). However, in the same study, no comparable lesions were observed in selenium deficiency (22). In terms of biochemical indices, a similar lack of effect was recorded by Walsh et al., (21) who demonstrated that selenium deficiency had no effect on muscle TBARS (thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances), though a combination of both alpha-tocopherol and selenium deficiency raised muscle TBARS. However, in interpreting the assay of TBARS, it is important to define the nature of the lesion induced by dietary antioxidant deficiencies. In many instances, muscle damage is distinguished in terms of morphological features at the light- or electron-microscopic level, which are less sensitive than biochemical indices of tissue damage.

#### **3.5.** Measuring the effects of free-radical damage

From the paragraph above, it is apparent that some consensus should be achieved in identifying criteria for characterizing the nature of the lesions caused by oxidative In many studies, changes in free radical damage. scavenging enzyme activities are measured without consideration of their functional effects on muscle. A good example of how important this approach is relates to a study that induced selenium deficiency for 2 months, reducing muscle glutathione peroxidase activities (10). This had no appreciable effects on endurance capacity (exercise triggers an increase in the generation of ROS) (10). Muscle is unique as it has two functional roles, providing mechanical activity as well as a dominant role in nutritional metabolism. It seems pertinent then, that the synthesis of the muscle proteins should remain optimal (for example, continual renewal of the contractile proteins

to maintain adequate mechanical activity). Protein synthesis is therefore a good parameter to assess muscle (skeletal or cardiac) damage in alcohol toxicity, especially as it embraces a number of processes, such as amino acid transport, nucleotide availability, etc.

# **3.6.** A hypothesis to explain the myopathy

To explain the mechanism of the myopathy, two criteria must be met. The myopathy must be explained by (i) defects in protein synthesis and/or protein degradation; (ii) differential changes that emphasize the greater sensitivity of Type II fibers. With respect to both of these factors, this differential sensitivity must be expressed in the final stages of the pathway.

# 3.7. Animal studies of alcohol misuse and effects on protein synthesis

Biochemical analysis of individual skeletal muscle fibers is technically demanding, and there are no published studies on protein synthesis in individual human muscle fibers. To resolve this problem, one must turn to laboratory animal experiments, as these provide excellent models for alcohol toxicity studies on smooth, cardiac and skeletal muscle (4,23-25). The rat possesses a number of anatomically distinct skeletal muscles containing a predominance of particular fiber types. The plantaris contains a predominance of Type II fibers, whilst the soleus contains mainly Type I fibers. The gastrocnemius is taken to represent the entire musculature, though technically Type II fibers predominate within this muscle. With reference to the gastrocnemius, we have shown that the response of this muscle to alcohol is intermediate between the responses of the plantaris and soleus muscles. In response to chronic ethanol feeding, the changes in weight of the gastrocnemius are exactly the same as either the entire skeletal musculature (assessed in eviscerated carcasses) or entire hind limb muscles (Paice, A G, unpublished observations). Hereafter, for brevity we have referred to the Type I soleus, the Type II plantaris and the mixed gastrocnemius.

Myopathic lesions in skeletal muscle can be reproduced in laboratory rats fed ethanol as 35% of total calories (i.e., Lieber-DeCarli regimen (4)). The weights of the Type II plantaris muscle are reduced, whilst the Type I soleus are relatively unaltered. Detailed analysis shows that the few Type II fibers within the soleus are preferentially affected, indicating that the myopathy selectively targets the fast-twitch, anaerobic fibers (1-4).

Clinical studies with stable isotopes have shown that rates of skeletal muscle protein synthesis in alcohol misusers are lower than the rates seen in non-alcoholic control subjects (26). Animal studies also show that ethanol reduces skeletal muscle protein synthesis in acutely and chronically ethanol-dosed rats, though most studies have focused on the acute model. Certainly, the relevance of this pertains to the fact that the precipitating event in ethanol exposure is a fall in protein synthesis. In the Type II plantaris, the decline in protein synthesis is greater than in the Type I soleus (1-4).

# 3.8. Oxidant damage and antioxidant status in skeletal muscles

There are three basic approaches to assess the impact of ROS in the etiology of disease processes in muscle. These are:

1. Assessment of ROS directly

2. Assessment of ROS damage, for example lipid or protein oxidation.

3. Assessment of protective mechanisms.

#### **3.8.1.** Assessment of ROS per se

There are a few studies examining free radicals directly in muscle disease, using ESR spin-trapping techniques, such as in magnesium deficiency (27,28). However, there are no comparable studies in alcoholic myopathy.

#### 3.8.2. Assessment of ROS damage

A number of indices are used to appraise damage by ROS, particularly TBARS and MDA, reflecting lipid oxidation. There is a particular index of ROS damage to protein, i.e., carbonyl formation, but this has been used less frequently. Carbonyl protein composition has been measured in muscles of rats subjected to exhaustive exercise for 1-1.5 hours (29). These studies showed that protein carbonyl content was increased in rats fed a normal diet then exercised (29). This increase was not seen in exercised and alpha-tocopherol supplemented rats (29).

#### 3.8.3. Assessment of protective mechanisms.

Higher amounts of alpha-tocopherol, and greater activities of catalase, glutathione peroxidase cytosolic and mitochondrial superoxide dismutase are seen in Type I skeletal muscle fibers, reflecting larger free radical formation via the respiratory chain (30-32). Other enzymes, as indicators of muscle pathology, have been examined including glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase, phosphogluconate dehydrogenase and glutathione reductase.

Of particular interest is the inverse relationship between the susceptibility to ethanol-induced reductions in protein synthesis and tissue alpha-tocopherol levels. This infers that alpha-tocopherol affords a protective mechanism against alcohol-induced reductions in protein synthesis. Below, we review some studies that have utilized either selenium or alpha-tocopherol as a myoprotective agent.

# 3.9. Protective effects of alpha-tocopherol and selenium

Administration of alpha-tocopherol appears to limit damage to muscle by ROS species, for example in thyroxine or exercise-induced injury. However, it is important to reiterate that there must be a clear definition of *damage*. Thus the protective effect of alpha-tocopherol is not apparent in exercise-induced injury to skeletal muscle as defined by elevations in the activities of muscle glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (used to assess inflammation due to invasion of phagocytic cells), maximal tetanic force, number of intact fibers and raised plasma creatine kinase activities (11). The hypothesis that the reductions in protein synthesis in alcohol toxicity are due to changes in lipid peroxidation has been tested in a rat model of ethanol dosage (75 mmol/kg body weight) (33). Despite a daily treatment regimen of alpha-tocopherol supplementation (30 mg/kg per day for 5 days), the acute dose of ethanol still reduces skeletal muscle protein synthesis (33). More recently, studies have shown that in Spanish alcohol misusers with myopathy, both serum and muscle levels of alpha-tocopherol did not influence the presence of skeletal muscle myopathy in chronic alcoholic patients (34). These observations contrast with a UK study, which showed reduced serum alpha-tocopherol and selenium in myopathic alcoholics, which may reflect geographical differences in antioxidant intake (8,34).

We have shown that 24 hours after an acute bolus of ethanol, there is a reduction in muscle protein synthesis (35). Protein carbonyl concentration at the end of this 24 hour period was not elevated compared to controls and may even be reduced (Reilly M, Personal communication). These data do not support a mechanism for ROS in mediating the acute changes in muscle pathology in alcohol toxicity.

# 3.10. Imidazole dipeptides

The histidine-containing imidazole dipeptides, carnosine and anserine, have a role in intracellular buffering (for example during high lactic acid production in glycolytic skeletal muscle). They occur in high concentrations in muscles, particularly Type II fiber-rich muscles. Additional properties include the ability to (i) trap peroxyl radicals,

- (ii) act as a reducing agent,
- (iii) inhibit the oxidative hydroxylation of deoxyguanosine (iv) chelate metal ions
- (v) quench singlet oxygen (see also (36,37)).

We measured imidazole dipeptides in rat muscle after 6 weeks of either ethanol (as 36% of total calories) or isocaloric glucose feeding with the Lieber-DeCarli protocol (38). However, although we were able to show that ethanol feeding preferentially reduced the weight of the Type II fiber-predominant skeletal muscles, carnosine concentrations (micro-mol/g wet weight) increased in the Type II plantaris and total contents (micro-mol per muscle) were not changed (38). In soleus, imidazole dipeptide contents actually decreased after 6 weeks of alcohol feeding (38).

# 4.0. Alcoholic cardiomyopathy

As with alcoholic skeletal muscle myopathy, we first describe the pathogenic nature of the lesions in the heart due to ethanol misuse. However, it important to remember that there is comparatively little work on the influence of ROS on the heart muscle *per se*, compared to vascular changes. For a review on the effect of ethanol on the cardiovascular system, see (39).

#### 4.1. Clinical features of alcoholic cardiomyopathy

Chronic ethanol consumption can develop into the disease state *alcoholic cardiomyopathy* (ACM), previously

known as *alcoholic heart muscle disease* (AHMD) for which no diagnostic criteria presently exist (40). In ACM there is historical or biochemical evidence of prolonged ethanol consumption for approximately 10 years or more at an average rate of 80 g/day, or a cumulative life time intake of 250 kg (5-7). Although the incidence of alcoholic cardiomyopathy is less than with alcoholic skeletal muscle disease, up to one third of chronic alcohol misusers have defects in contractility.

Features of ACM include striking elevations in tissue enzymes (for example alpha-hydroxybutyric dehydrogenase), marked contractile dysfunction, fibrosis, increased lipid deposits and lipofuscin staining (5-7). Electron microscopy studies on heart muscle from patients with AHMD have shown swollen or ovoid shaped mitochondria, with disruption or fragmentation of the cristae (5-7). Myofibrillary damage include loss of filaments and striations (41).

Various mechanisms have been proposed to account for the changes in the heart muscle in alcoholism, including changes in the synthesis of contractile proteins (25,42-45) and the induction of autoantibodies due to the formation of acetaldehyde-protein adducts (46). The involvement of lipid peroxidation and hence free radical mediated damage has also been hypothesized in the pathogenesis of ACM. Histological features of organelle damage are similar to those resulting from lipid peroxidation (47,48). Certainly, free radical mediated injury occurs in other cardiac pathologies, such as those resulting from selenium deficiency, catecholamine toxicity or adriamycin cardiomyopathy (49-51).

# 4.2. The involvement of free radical mediated damage

Tissues from patients who had died from acute ethanol consumption, with a previous history of chronic alcohol misuse, show increased myocardial lipopigment (also called "age pigments" as their density is enhanced with age) (52). Animal studies have shown more compelling evidence of ROS-induced damage whereby chronic alcohol consumption causes an increase in cardiac lipid peroxidation, the effects of which are more severe in animals with concomitant zinc deficiency (53,54). Evidence to support some element of a free-radical mediated event in the cause of AHMD has been obtained in studies showing that, in alcohol-treated rats, the shift in fatty acid profile was inhibited by dietary alpha-tocopherol (55). A decrease in cardiac creatine kinase (CK) activity after an acute dose of alcohol has been demonstrated, which was ascribed to damage by ROS (56). The implications of these findings are as follows: xanthine oxidase (XO), which generates superoxide radicals  $(O_2^{-})$ also inactivates CK. CK can also be inactivated by hydrogen peroxide, though the mechanism of CK inactivation in adriamycin toxicity results from the activity of hydroxyl (OH·) radical (57). The importance of this relates to the central role of CK in cardiac energetics and contractility. Free radicals generated by XO are capable of reducing calcium uptake velocity in isolated sarcoplasmic reticulum, which contributes to excitation-coupling changes

(58). Hydroxyl radicals also change the conformational properties of the contractile proteins themselves, as determined by electrophoretic analysis (59).

In one rat study, chronic alcohol consumption (as 18% of total calories) for 4 weeks was also shown to decrease CK activity (56); however, some clinical studies have shown a significant increase in CK activities in cardiomyopathic alcoholics with a history of heavy (a cumulative intake of greater than 250 kg alcohol) compared to light (a cumulative intake of under 250 kg alcohol) ethanol misuse (60). Clearly, the differences between these studies need to be reconciled. For example, the animal studies used non-alcoholic controls (56) whereas the clinical studies have examined *light* ethanol misusers (60). However, the chronic studies of Hininger et al. (56) did not use a pair feeding (i.e., Lieber-DeCarli) regimen and ethanol was administered in drinking water making the results difficult to interpret. In contrast, Klein et al., (61), employed careful attention to a pair-feeding regimen where rats were fed liquid diets containing ethanol as 35% of dietary energy for 10 weeks. Controls were pair-fed identical amounts of the same diet, in which ethanol was replaced by isocaloric glucose. However, the activity of cardiac CK was unaltered.

The reductions in cardiac CK activities due to acute ethanol dosage has been employed by to assess three agents, previously proposed to afford protection against free radical-mediated damage: allopurinol, desferrioxamine and propranolol (56). After 2 hours, ethanol alone reduced cardiac CK activities by 15-25%, which was not prevented by either allopurinol or desferrioxamine. Pre-administration of propranolol before acute ethanol caused an increase in CK activity in both control and alcohol treated rats (56). This property conferred by propranolol was thought to be due to the inhibition of XO activities, though propranolol is also a beta-blocker (56,62).

The reason why allopurinol did not prevent the reduction in CK activity requires some explanation as this agent is a well-characterized XO inhibitor. In rats treated with allopurinol alone, a decrease in CK activity was also observed, an event attributed to CK leakage (56). The *pro-oxidant* effects of desferrioxamine *in vivo* (as opposed to its superoxide radical scavenging activities *in vitro*) may explain why this iron-chelator was similarly ineffective in preventing the ethanol-induced reductions in cardiac CK activity (56).

# 4.3. Alcohol and cardiac ischemic damage

A strong correlation between alcohol intake and sudden cardiac death has been reported (63). During an eight year study, more than half of the patients studied for ischemic heart disease died from sudden cardiac death as a result of heavy alcohol drinking in comparison to light drinkers, implicating a direct effect of alcohol consumption (63). Other studies have also implicated an increase in mortality from ischemic heart disease because of heavy alcohol intake (for example, (64)). This phenomena may be related to rhythm disturbances. In ischemic heart disease, there are increased ectopic beats and arrhythymias following controlled alcohol ingestion (65). Overall, these data show an increased vulnerability to alcohol in patients with pre-existing cardiac disease.

In vivo studies examining the short term effects of alcohol have reported decreased myocardial blood flow, increased vascular resistance and ECG disturbances (66). Long-term effects of ischemia on the heart include structural alterations to mitochondria, damaged myofibrils and sarcoplasmic reticulum, and an increase in lipofuscin granules. These features are similar to those seen in experimental ischemia in the rat (67). Thus it is not unreasonable to propose mechanisms involving ischemic heart muscle damage in the aetiology of alcoholic heart muscle disease and if this occurs, then a *re-perfusion* type injury will also ensue. It has been suggested that acetaldehyde may be instrumental in inducing myocardial ischemia and coronary vasospasm (assessed by both ECG and thallium 201 scintograms) after alcohol consumption (68). The abnormalities were not perturbed by treadmill exercise alone (68). Studies with troponin-T in the rat (described below) support a mechanism involving ischemia.

#### 4.4. Release of troponin-T and effects of propranolol

The serum marker troponin-T has been successfully used to assess ischemic damage clinically, and we have shown that it increases in acute ethanol exposure (69). However, in the rat, the effects of an acute dose of ethanol can be prevented with propranolol, but not with alphatocopherol pre-treatment (69,70). Although propranolol is a beta-blocker, it reverses isoproterenol-induced ischemia by reducing lipid peroxides, lowers xanthine oxidase activity, and increases superoxide dismutase activity. In isolated myocardial preparations, propranolol prevents lipid peroxidation. These effects of propranolol appear to be independent of its beta-blockade activity. The reason why alpha-tocopherol had no effect in preventing the ethanolinduced increases in troponin-T merits comment. It is thought that propranolol acts via a different mechanism of chain-breaking antioxidant activity, compared to alphatocopherol (70).

Whilst troponin-T efflux is increased in response to ethanol, whole heart protein synthesis is reduced. Despite the fact that propranolol pre-treatment inhibits the rise in circulating troponin-T, it does not inhibit the fall in protein synthesis, in ethanol dosed rats (70). This suggests that the troponin-T is reflecting a local phenomenon of tissue pathology, a supposition supported by the observation that the proportion of troponin-T released into the circulation is less than 1% of total cardiac free troponin-T (70).

# 5. CONCLUSIONS

Mechanisms for the involvement of ROS damage in the etiology of alcohol-induced disorders in non-muscle tissues have frequently been proposed. There is also some evidence to indicate that ROS may similarly be involved in the pathogenesis of alcoholic myopathy and cardiomyopathy. We have defined the lesions in skeletal

muscle in terms of defects in protein synthesis, though the mechanisms responsible for alcohol-induced heart muscle damage remain esoteric. However, despite the observation that serum levels of alpha-tocopherol are reduced in alcoholics, these observation are not reconciled with the fact that alpha-tocopherol loading studies are ineffective in ameliorating the acute effects of ethanol on protein synthesis. In addition, the protein carbonyl content is not elevated in acutely dosed rats. In chronic alcohol dosed rats, levels of the imidazole dipeptides in skeletal muscle are not reduced (and concentrations actually increase). Although the above do not implicate ROS in skeletal muscle damage, our data also show that the XO inhibitor propranolol reduces alcoholic heart muscle damage as reflected by troponin-T release. However, these alterations reflect local events as more global changes, such as reductions in heart muscle protein synthesis are unaffected by propranolol. Additional studies are clearly warranted as propranolol has other pharmacological properties such as beta-blockade.

### 6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Part of this work was carried out in the Rayne Institute, 123 Coldharbour Lane, London SE5 9NU. The expertise of H Ansell is acknowledged as well as the support and encouragement of Professor T. J Peters. M E Reilly is supported by the JRS, KCSMD. The JRC, KCSMD, supports VBP. VRP acknowledges support from the MRC.

# 7. REFERENCES

1. V. R. Preedy, J. Salisbury & T. J. Peters: Alcoholic muscle disease: features and mechanisms. *J Pathol* 173, 309-315 (1994)

2. V. R. Preedy, T. J. Peters, V. B. Patel & J. P. Miell: Chronic alcoholic myopathy: transcription and translational alterations. *FASEB J* 8, 1146-1151 (1994)

3. V. R. Preedy, M. Reilly, D. Mantle, T. J. Peters: Free radicals and antioxidants in the pathogenesis of alcoholic myopathy. In: Free radicals and skeletal muscle. Eds: Reznick A E, Packer D L, Sen C K, Holloszy J O, Jackson M J, Birkhauser Verlag, Basel, 283-293 (1998)

4. V. R. Preedy, A. McIntosh, A. B. Bonner & T. J. Peters: Ethanol dosage regimens in studies of ethanol toxicity: influence of nutrition and surgical interventions. *Addict Biol* 1, 255-262 (1996)

5. V. R. Preedy & P. J. Richardson: Alcoholic cardiomyopathy: clinical and experimental pathological changes. *Herz* 21, 241-247 (1996)

6. V. R. Preedy & P. J. Richardson, Alcohol and the heart. In: Current issues in cardiovascular therapy. Ed: Elliott, H L, Martin Dunitz, London 83-95 (1997)

7. P. J. Richardson, V. B. Patel & V. R. Preedy: Alcohol and the myocardium. *Novartis Found Symp* 216, 35-60 (1998) 8. R. J. Ward & T. J. Peters: The antioxidant status of patients with either alcohol-induced liver damage or myopathy. *Alcohol Alcohol* 27, 359-365 (1992)

9. R. J. Butterworth, W. S. Wassif, R. A. Sherwood, A. Gerges, K. H. Poyser, J. Garthwaite, T. J. Peters & P. M. Bath: Serum neuron-specific enolase, carnosinase, and their ratio in acute stroke. An enzymatic test for predicting outcome? *Stroke* 27, 2064-2068 (1996)

10. J. K. Lang, K. Gohil, L. Packer & R. F. Burk: Selenium deficiency, endurance exercise capacity, and antioxidant status in rats. *J Appl Physiol* 63, 2532-2535 (1987)

11. J. A. Warren, R. R. Jenkins, L Packer, E. H. Witt & R. B. Armstrong: Elevated muscle vitamin E does not attenuate eccentric exercise-induced muscle injury. *J Appl Physiol* 72, 2168-2175 (1992)

12. P. D. Whanger, P. H. Weswig, J. A. Schmitz & J. E. Oldfield: Effects of selenium and vitamin E on blood selenium levels, tissue glutathione peroxidase activities and white muscle disease in sheep fed purified or hay diets. *J Nutr* 107, 1298-1307 (1977)

13. R. J. Turner, L. E. Wheatley & N. F. Beck: Impaired mitogen responses in lambs with white muscle disease. *Res Vet Sci* 37, 357-358 (1984)

14. T. Higuchi, S. Ichijo, S. Osame & H. Ohishi: Studies on serum selenium and tocopherol in white muscle disease of foal. *Nippon Juigaku Zasshi* 51, 52-59 (1989)

15. Y. Hoshino, S. Ichijo, S. Osame & E. Takahashi: Studies on serum tocopherol, selenium levels and blood glutathione peroxidase activities in calves with white muscle disease. *Nippon Juigaku Zasshi* 51, 741-748 (1989)

16. S. Osame, T. Ohtani & S. Ichijo: Studies on serum tocopherol and selenium levels and blood glutathione peroxidase activities in lambs with white muscle disease. *Nippon Juigaku Zasshi* 52, 705-710 (1990)

17. B. G. de Gritz, T. Rahko & H. Korpela: Diet-induced lipofuscin and ceroid formation in growing pigs. *J Comp Pathol* 110, 11-24 (1994)

18. B. G. de Gritz: Copper-zinc superoxide dismutase (CuZnSOD) in antioxidant deficient pigs. *Zentralbl Veterinarmed A* 42, 561-573 (1995)

19. B. Dickerson, A. McKnight, J. Middleton, J. W. Tyler, R. Bagley & R. Valdez: Electromyographic evaluation of a calf with white muscle disease. *Vet Rec* 140, 431-432 (1997)

20. J. Lofstedt: White muscle disease of foals. Vet Clin North Am Equine Pract 13, 169-185 (1997)

21. D. M. Walsh, D. G. Kennedy, E. A. Goodall & S. Kennedy: Antioxidant enzyme activity in the muscles of calves depleted of vitamin E or selenium or both. *Br J Nutr* 70, 621-630 (1993)

22. T. Amemiya: Differences in muscular changes in rats with vitamin E and with selenium deficiency. *Int J Vitam Nutr Res* 57, 139-143 (1987)

23. J. S. Marway, J. P. Miell, J. Jones, A. B. Bonner, M. A. Preece, I. Hashim & V. R. Preedy: Contractile protein synthesis rates *in vivo* in the rat jejunum: Modulating role of adrenalectomy and thyroidectomy on ethanol-induced changes. *Addict Biol* 2, 67-79 (1997)

24. V. R. Preedy, D. M. Nott, J. Yates, S. Venkatesan, S. A. Jenkins & T. J. Peters: Hepatic haemodynamics and reticuloendothelial function in the rat in response to chronic ethanol administration. *Addict Biol* 2, 445-454 (1997)

25. T. Siddiq, G. Sandhu, P. J. Richardson & V. R. Preedy: Effects of acute ethanol on ventricular myofibrillary protein synthesis *in vivo* in normotensive and hypertensive rats. *Addict Biol* 2, 87-93 (1997)

26. P. J. Pacy, V. R. Preedy, T. J. Peters, M. Read & D. Halliday: The effect of chronic alcohol ingestion on whole body and muscle protein synthesis-a stable isotope study. *Alcohol Alcohol* 26, 505-513 (1991)

27. E. Rock, C. Astier, C. Lab, X. Vignon, E. Gueux, C. Motta & Y. Rayssiguier: Dietary magnesium deficiency in rats enhances free radical production in skeletal muscle. *J Nutr* 125, 1205-1210 (1995)

28. C. Lee & E. Okabe: Hydroxyl radical-mediated reduction of Ca<sup>2+</sup>-ATPase activity of masseter muscle sarcoplasmic reticulum. *Jpn J Pharmacol* 67, 21-28 (1995)

29. A. Z. Reznick, E. Witt, M. Matsumoto & L. Packer: Vitamin E inhibits protein oxidation of skeletal muscle of resting and exercised rats. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 189, 801-806 (1992)

30. K. Asayama, W. D. Dettbarn & I. M. Burr: Differential effect of denervation on free-radical scavenging enzymes in slow and fast muscle of rat. *J Neurochem* 46, 604-609 (1986)

31. K. Asayama, K. Dobashi, H. Hayashibe, Y. Megata, Y. & K Kato: Lipid peroxidation and free radical scavengers in thyroid dysfunction in the rat: a possible mechanism of injury to heart and skeletal muscle in hyperthyroidism. *Endocrinology*. 121, 2112-2118 (1987)

32. M. H. Laughlin, T. Simpson, W. L. Sexton, O. R. Brown, J. K. Smith and R. J. Korthuis: Skeletal muscle oxidative capacity, antioxidant enzymes, and exercise training. *J Appl Physiol* 68, 2337-2343 (1990)

33. M. E. Reilly, H. Ansell, J. S. Marway, P. J. Richardson, T. J. Peters & V. R. Preedy: The effect of supplementation on alpha-tocopherol levels in liver, heart and skeletal muscle. *Biochem Soc Trans* 23, 466S (1995)

34. J. Fernandez Sola, E. Villegas, J. M. Nicolas, R. Deulofeu, E. Antunez, E. Sacanella, R. Estruch & A. Urbano Marquez: Serum and muscle levels of alpha-

tocopherol, ascorbic acid, and retinol are normal in chronic alcoholic myopathy. *Alcoholism Clin Exp Res* 22, 422-427 (1998)

35. M. E. Reilly, D. Mantle, P. J. Richardson, J. Salisbury, J. Jones, T. J. Peters & V. R. Preedy: Studies on the timecourse of ethanol's acute effects on skeletal muscle protein synthesis: comparison with acute changes in proteolytic activity. *Alcoholism Clin Exp Res* 21, 792-798 (1997)

36. R. Kohen, Y. Yamamoto, K. C. Cundy, B. N. Ames: Antioxidant activity of carnosine, homocarnosine, and anserine present in muscle and brain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A* 85, 3175-3179 (1988)

37. P. J. Quinn, A. A. Boldyrev & V. E. Formazuyk: Carnosine: its properties, functions and potential therapeutic applications. *Mol Aspects Med* 13, 379-444 (1992)

38. R. J. Ward & V. R. Preedy: Imidazole dipeptides in experimental alcohol-induced myopathy. *Alcohol Alcohol* 27, 633-639 (1992)

39. H. S. Friedman, Cardiovascular effects of alcohol. *Recent Dev Alcohol* 14, 135-166 (1998)

40. P. J. Richardson, W. McKenna, M. Bristow, B. Maisch, B. Mautner, J. O'Connell, E. Olsen, G Thiene, J. Goodwin, I. Gyarfas, I. Martin & P. Nordet:. Report of the 1995 World Health Organization/International Society and Federation of Cardiology Task Force on the Definition and Classification of Cardiomyopathies. *Circulation* 93, 841-842 (1996)

41. R. G. Hibbs, V. J. Ferrans, W. C. Black, D. G. Weilbaecher, J. J. Walsh & G. E. Burch: Alcoholic cardiomyopathy. An electron microscopy study. *Am Heart J.* 69, 766-769 (1965)

42. V. R. Preedy & T. Siddiq, H. Why & P. J Richardson: The deleterious effects of alcohol on the heart: involvement of protein turnover. *Alcohol Alcohol* 29, 141-147 (1994)

43. V . R. Preedy, T. Siddiq, H. J. Why & P. J. Richardson: Ethanol toxicity and cardiac protein synthesis in vivo. *Am Heart J* 127, 1432-1439 (1994)

44. T. Siddiq, P. J. Richardson & V. R. Preedy: Cardiac contractile protein synthesis in hypertension: modulation by acute ethanol toxicity. *Biochem Soc Trans* 22, 170S (1994)

45. V. B. Patel, J. M. Corbett, M. J. Dunn, V. R. Winrow, B. Portmann, P. J. Richardson & V. R. Preedy: Protein profiling in cardiac tissue in response to the chronic effects of alcohol. *Electrophoresis* 18, 2788-2794 (1997)

46. A. A. Harcombe, L. Ramsay, J. G. Kenna, J. Koskinas, H. J. Why, P. J. Richardson, P. L. Weissberg & G. J. Alexander: Circulating antibodies to cardiac proteinacetaldehyde adducts in alcoholic heart muscle disease. *Clin Sci Colch* 88, 263-268 (1995) 47. L. Garcia-Bunuel: Lipid peroxidation in alcoholic myopathy and cardiomyopathy. *Med Hypotheses* 13, 217-231 (1984)

48. V. G. Tsiplenkova, A. M. Vikhert & N. M. Cherpachenko Ultrastructural and histochemical observations in human and experimental alcoholic cardiomyopathy. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 8, 22A-32A, 1986

49. O. Oster, W. Prellwitz, W. Kasper & T. Meinertz: Congestive cardiomyopathy and the selenium content of serum. *Clin Chim Acta* 128, 125-132 (1983)

50. P. K. Singal N. Kapur, K. S. Dhillon, R. E. Beamish & N. S. Dhalla: Role of free radicals in catecholamineinduced cardiomyopathy. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* 60, 1390-1397 (1982)

51. S. Rajagopalan, P. M. Politi, B. K. Sinha & C. E. Myers: Adriamycin-induced free radical formation in the perfused rat heart: implications for cardiotoxicity. *Cancer Res* 48, 4766-4769 (1988)

52. P. Jaatinen, P. Saukko & A. Hervonen: Chronic ethanol exposure increases lipopigment accumulation in human heart. *Alcohol Alcohol* 28, 559-569 (1993)

53. R. Nordmann, C. Ribiere & H. Rouach: Involvement of oxygen free radicals in the metabolism and toxicity of ethanol. *Prog Clin Biol Res* 241, 201-213 (1987)

54. C. Coudray, F. Boucher, M. J. Richard, J. Arnaud, J. De Leiris & A, Favier: Zinc deficiency, ethanol, and myocardial ischemia affect lipoperoxidation in rats. *Biol Trace Elem Res* 30, 103-118 (1991)

55. S. V. Pirozhkov, C. D. Eskelson, R. R. Watson, G. C. Hunter, J. J. Piotrowski & V. Bernhard: Effect of chronic consumption of ethanol and vitamin E on fatty acid composition and lipid peroxidation in rat heart tissue. *Alcohol.* 9, 329-334 (1992)

56. I. Hininger, C. Ribiere & R. Nordmann: Disturbances in myocardial creatine kinase following ethanol administration to rats--trials of prevention by allopurinol, desferrioxamine and propranolol. *Alcohol Alcohol* 26, 303-307 (1991)

57. C. Thomas, A. C. Carr & C. C. Winterbourn: Free radical inactivation of rabbit muscle creatinine kinase: catalysis by physiological and hydrolyzed ICRF-187 (ICRF-198) iron chelates. *Free Radic Res* 21, 387-397 (1994)

58. M. L. Hess, E. Okabe & H. A. Kontos: Proton and free oxygen radical interaction with the calcium transport system of cardiac sarcoplasmic reticulum. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 13, 767-772 (1981)

59. V. Robert, S. Ayoub & G. Berson: Effects of hydroxyl radicals on ATPase and protein structure of myofibrils from rat heart. *Am J Physiol* 261, H1785-H1790 (1991)

60. P. J. Richardson, A. D. Wodak, L. Atkinson, J. B. Saunders & D. E. Jewitt: Relation between alcohol intake, myocardial enzyme activity, and myocardial function in dilated cardiomyopathy. Evidence for the concept of alcohol induced heart muscle disease. *Br Heart J* 56, 165-170 (1986)

61. H. H. Klein, U. Spaar & H. Kreuzer: The effect of chronic ethanol consumption on enzyme activities of the energy-supplying metabolism and the alcohol-aldehyde oxidizing system in rat hearts. *Basic Res Cardiol* 79, 238-243 (1984)

62. D. R. Janero, R. Lopez, J. Pittman & B. Burghardt: Propranolol as xanthine oxidase inhibitor: implications for antioxidant activity. *Life Sci* 44, 1579-1588 (1989)

63. G. Wannamethee & A. G. Shaper: Alcohol and sudden cardiac death. *Br Heart J* 68, 443-448 (1992)

64. L. Wilhelmsen, D. Elmfeldt & H Wedel: Cause of death in relation to social and alcoholic problems among Swedish men aged 35-44 years. *Acta Med Scand* 213, 263-268 (1983)

65. E. Kentala, O, Luurila & M. P. Salaspuro: Effects of alcohol ingestion on cardiac rhythm in patients with ischemic heart disease. *Ann Clin Res* 8, 408-414 (1976)

66. V. Morvai, G. Ungvary, K. Varga, K. Albert & G. Folly: Effect of long-term alcohol intake on the cardiovascular system of the rat. *Acta Physiol. Acad Sci Hung* 54, 369-379 (1979)

67. V. Morvai & G. Ungvary: Morphological alterations due to long term alcohol intake in rats. *Exp Pathol* 31, 153-160 (1987)

68. H. Ando, H. Abe & R. Hisanou: Ethanol-induced myocardial ischemia: close relation between blood acetaldehyde level and myocardial ischemia. *Clin Cardiol* 16, 443-446 (1993)

69. V. B. Patel, R. Sherwood, H. Why, K. Poyser, P. J. Richardson & V. R. Preedy: The acute and chronic effects of alcohol toxicity upon rat plasma troponin-T levels. *Alcohol Alcohol* 30, 525 (1995)

70. Patel, V.B. Biochemical investigations into experimental alcoholic cardiomyopathy and hypertension. 1997 (Abstract)

**Key words:** Free Radicals, Reactive Oxygen Species, Acetaldehyde, Myopathy, Protein Synthesis, Review

**Abbreviations**: AIMD: Alcohol-induced muscle disease; CAM: Chronic alcoholic myopathy; CK: Creatine kinase; ROS: Reactive oxygen species; AT: alpha-tocopherol (vitamin E); GSH: Reduced glutathione; GSSG: Oxidized glutathione; WMD: *White muscle disease*; TBARS: Thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances Send correspondence to: Dr Victor R Preedy, Department of Clinical Biochemistry, Guy's, King's and St Thomas's Medical School, King's College London, Bessemer Road, London SE5 9PJ, UK. Telephone: (44) 171-346-4255; Fax: (44) 171-737-7434, E-mail: victor.preedy@kcl.ac.uk

Received: 5/1/99, Accepted: 5/20/99